
 D R
A 

F T
 

 YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 

 BOARD of TRUSTEES 
 Additional Regular Meeting 

 AGENDA 
 May 23, 2023 – 12:00 PM 

 Google Meet Link -  meet.google.com/fhw-kduc-xhx 

 1.0  Call to Order 
 2.0  Land Acknowledgement 
 3.0  Chairperson’s Opening Remarks 
 4.0  Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
 5.0  Adoption of Agenda 
 6.0  Delegations and Presentations - none 
 7.0  Review and Approval of Minutes  - deferred to June  Board Meeting 
 8.0  Trustee Statements  - deferred to June Board Meeting 

 Per Bylaws: Trustee Statements are individual opinions and are not 
 intended to represent the views of the Board. 

 Trustee statements are not debatable and 

 9.0  Unfinished Business 
 9.1  2023-2024 Budget Approval 

 9.1.1 

 10.0  New Business 
 10.1  2022-2025 USW Agreement Approval 

 11.0  Reports  - deferred to June  Board Meeting 
 11.1  Chairperson’s Report 
 11.2  Standing Committee Reports 

 11.2.1  Finance (Chairperson - Trustee Snaggs) 
 11.2.2  Public Relations (Chairperson - Trustee Bell) 
 11.2.3  Policy (Chairperson – Trustee Brookes) 
 11.2.4  Audit Committee (TBD) 
 11.2.5  Committee of the Whole (Chairperson - Trustee Brookes) 
 11.2.6  Facilities Committee (Chairperson – Trustee Drew) 
 11.2.7  NWTTA Teacher-Board Committee (Reps: Trustees Bell & Brookes) 

 11.3  Ad Hoc Committee Reports  - deferred to June  Board Meeting 
 11.3.1  Strategic Plan Committee 
 11.3.2  Negotiations Committee 

 11.4  Superintendent’s Report  - deferred to June Board Meeting 
 11.4.1 Assistant Superintendent - Education Services 
 11.4.2 Assistant Superintendent - HR 

 Board Meeting Agenda  Page  1 May 23, 2023

May 23, 2023 - Page 001

https://meet.google.com/avq-gpty-ywj?hs=122&authuser=0
https://meet.google.com/fhw-kduc-xhx


 D R
A 

F T
 

 11.5  Director of Corporate Services’ Report  - deferred to June Board Meeting 
 11.5.1 Director of Operations Report 

 11.6 Trustee Reports  - deferred to June  Board Meeting 

 11.7  Trustee PAC Meeting Reports  - deferred to June Board Meeting 
 11.7.1  École Įtłʼǫ̀ 
 11.7.2  Mildred Hall School 
 11.7.3  N.J. Macpherson School 
 11.7.4  Range Lake North School 
 11.7.5  École Sir John Franklin High School 
 11.7.6  École William McDonald School 

 12.0  Announcements –  - deferred to June Board  Meeting 

 13.0  Date and Time of Next Meetings: 

 June 13, 2023    12:00 PM  CoTW Meeting 

 June 13, 2023,   6:30 PM  Executive Session – in camera 

 June 13, 2023,   7:00 PM  Regular Board Meeting 

 14.0  Chairperson’s Closing Remarks 

 15.0  Adjournment 

 Board Meeting Agenda  Page  2 May 23, 2023

May 23, 2023 - Page 002



 

Form date: April 2023 

 

BOARD REPORT 
Title: Budget Approval 2023/2024 

Contact: Jason Snaggs, Finance Committee Chairperson 

Date Submitted: May 23,  2023 

Mandate: Budget 2023/ 2024: 

• We are recommending a Budget that supports the operational 
requirements needed for the delivery of education for all 
students within the fiscal funding parameters set by the 
Department of Education, Culture and Employment, and the 
revenues generated by the district. 
 

Background: Budget Changes after Ratepayers Meeting May 2, 2023  
Increase in the Group Professional Development Budget for the 
Board of Trustees $20,000.  This will fund the annual professional 
development for the group to attend a conference outside of the 
NWT.  

Addition of NWT Sports Coordinator Budget of $20,000 to go towards 
a Student Support Coordinator for the NWT.  This is a joint cost sharing 
initiative of all the NWT School Boards. 
Deficit Budget Ratepayers May 2                      $  -741,969 
Board Budget increase                                            -20,000 
School Program Increase                                        -20.000 
Revised Proposed Budget May 23, 2023          $ -781,969 

The contribution funding from ECE does not include potential wage 
increase with a new collective agreement settlements, therefore an 
additional revenue estimate of 3% funding for wage increase is added to 
the expected revenues. 

Other Headings as 
appropriate: 
- Current 
- Survey 

Response 

Funding Contributions from ECE is received for next Budget year 
2023/2024. 
Jordan Principle funding continues with Schools submitting applications 
for next school year. 
Excess cash is invested to earn investment income. 

May 23, 2023 - Page 003



 

Form date: April 2023 

- Information 
 

City of Yellowknife Property Tax allocation is confirm. 
 

Recommendations: Board Motion:  I move The Board of Trustees of YK1 approve the 
Budget as presented at the Ratepayer’s meeting on May 2 with 
the Revisions as presented.  
-  

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 004



 Yellowknife Education District No. 1 

 2023-2024 

 Draft Budget 
 Statements of Revenue and Expenditures 

 (For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024) 

 Yellowknife Education District No. 1 • P.O. Box 788  • 5402 50 Avenue  • Yellowknife  •  NT •  X1A 2N6 
 Phone: 867-766-5050  •  Fax: 867-873-5051  •  Email: tram.do@yk1.nt.ca 

 For detailed information about YK1’s programs, visit  www.yk1.nt.ca 

 1  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 005

http://www.yk1.nt.ca/


 Table of Contents 

 Table of Contents  2 
 Introduction  3 
 Board Strategic Directions  3 
 Programs and Services  4 

 i) Administration/Board  4 
 ii) Teaching and Learning  4 
 iii) Healthy Lifestyles  5 
 iv) Junior Kindergarten  6 
 v) Special Programs  6 
 vi) French Programs  7 
 vii) Information Technology  7 
 viii) Inclusive Schooling  7 
 ix) Indigenous Language and Culture Based Education Programs  8 
 x  ) Jordan’s Principle (JP) & Inuit Child First Initiative  9 
 xi) Facilities and Maintenance and Capital  9 

 Budget Highlights and Overview  11 

 2  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 006



 Introduction 

 Yellowknife Education District No. 1 (YK1) was formally established on October 1, 1939, under 
 section 33 of the Northwest Territories (NWT) School Ordinance. YK1’s purpose is to administer 
 and maintain the standards of educational programs in Yellowknife defined under the 
 Education Act. 

 YK1 has been providing excellent education in Yellowknife for more than 83 years. Our 
 financial health enables us to maintain quality programming that meets the needs of our 
 students. 

 YK1 takes a holistic approach which considers the physical, emotional, social, and community 
 aspects of health and wellness. By increasing engagement in physical activity, spreading 
 awareness of nutrition, and promoting positive relationships, we work to provide students with 
 the tools they need to live healthy and fulfilling lives. 

 Board Strategic Directions 

 Taking direction from its mission statement, the Board of Trustees of Yellowknife Education 
 District No. 1 has set the following Strategic Priorities for 2021 to 2024: 

 Wellness:  Build relationships and cultivate a culture  of holistic wellness 

 ●  Recognize the importance of relationships in learning 
 ●  Foster and promote personal wellness 
 ●  Create healthy, safe, and caring learning environments 

 3  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 007



 Learning:  Ensure inclusive, equitable, and authentic learning experiences 

 ●  Engage learners through meaningful and innovative teaching and learning practices 
 ●  Strive for excellence 
 ●  Celebrate diversity of all learners 

 Indigenous Learning:  Honor and celebrate Indigenous  Language and Culture for all learners 

 ●  Create a welcoming environment for all learners 
 ●  Integrate an Indigenous approach to education 
 ●  Strengthen Indigenous Language instruction 

 Community:  Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues 

 ●  Inspire and pursue critical thinking through innovative and sustainable practices 
 ●  Embrace diversity and encourage empathy to promote global citizenship 
 ●  Model and encourage ethical leadership and engage in opportunities for service 

 learning 

 Programs and Services 

 i)  Administration/Board 

 The administration budget includes salaries and benefits for 9.5 District office staff 
 (addition of 1 position) that supports the new proposed Organization Chart. Services 
 provided from the District Office include board governance, board support, policy 
 development, community engagement and public relations, corporate services, 
 financial services and reporting, payroll, health and safety, and human resources. The 
 budget also includes honoraria for seven Board of Trustee members as well as operations 
 and maintenance (O&M) expenses. 

 ii)  Teaching and Learning 

 YK1 supports the philosophy that assessment drives instruction and the link between 
 teaching and learning is key to student success. The District utilizes literacy and 
 numeracy assessments in the English and French programs to determine students’ 
 strengths and challenges. Teachers work collaboratively in Professional Learning 
 Communities using their District and classroom assessment data to set goals, plan for 
 instruction, post-assess and reflect on practices that improve student learning. 

 4  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 008



 YK1 uses territorial systemic assessments (PATs, Diploma exams) to measure District 
 academic progress.  

 In support of YK1 strategic priorities and Department of Education, Culture, and 
 Employment (ECE) directives, professional development for 2023-2024 will be under the 
 following themes: 

 1. Inclusive Pedagogy to support all learners 
 -  Inclusive Education strategies 
 -  Outside consultants to support 

 o  Early literacy 
 o  ELA residencies in all schools 

 (English and French) 
 o  Math residencies in all schools 

 (English and French) 
 o  Second language instruction 

 (French and Wıìlıìdeh) 
 2. Health and Wellness 

 -  Social Emotional Learning 
 -  Music Education and Fine Arts 

 3. Indigenizing our Practices 
 -  Indigenous Language and Culture programming 

 iii)  Healthy Lifestyles 

 In response to data from the Early Years Development Instrument (EDI) and the Middle 
 Years Development Instrument (MDI), ongoing programs and initiatives that will support 
 student health and well-being include: 

 -  Physical Literacy 
 -  Positive Behavioural and Interventions Support (  PBIS)  -  Soutien au comportement 

 positif  (  SCP  ) 
 -  Safe-Schools Plan 
 -  Self-Regulation 
 -  Mental Health Training 
 -  Promotion of equity, community, inclusion and safety 
 -  Child and Youth Care Counselors (CYCC) at each school site 

 5  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 009



 iv)  Junior Kindergarten 

 Junior Kindergarten (JK) is continuing in the 2023-2024 
 school year using the Government of the Northwest 
 Territories (GNWT) competency-based document,  NWT 
 Junior Kindergarten/Kindergarten (K) Curriculum  , which 
 nurtures early learning development in the social, 
 emotional, intellectual, cultural and physical domains 
 using a play or inquiry-based approach. 

 Students develop along a continuum and are supported throughout their years in JK/K to 
 grow in all areas.  Emergent literacy and numeracy skills develop through a playful and 
 student-centered hands-on approach. Based on projected enrollment, we are 
 budgeting for 6 JK classrooms and 1 one reserve to be assigned if enrollment increases. 

 v)  Special Programs 

 Special programming in our schools include: 

 -  École Sir John Franklin High School (SJF)  : Choir,  Jazz Band, Concert Band, 
 Guitar Instruction, Sports Academy, CTS programming (e.g. Esthetics, Aviation 
 and Drone technology, Food sciences, Automotives, Robotics), French 
 Immersion, Post Intensive French, Indigenous Language (Wıìlıìdeh) 

 -  École William McDonald Middle School (WMS):  Industrial  Arts, Culinary Arts 
 (Foods), Technology Exploratory (Robotics, Drones, 3D Printing, Coding Etc.), 
 Art, Band, Outdoor Educational Pursuits, French Immersion, Intensive/Post 
 Intensive French 

 -  Range Lake North School (RLN):  Choir, Band, Technology  (e.g. robotics, 
 Makerspace, coding), Indigenous Outdoor learning, Pre/Intensive/Post 
 Intensive French, ecology 

 -  Mildred Hall School (MHS):  Choir, Band, Indigenous  Education and Cultural 
 Experiences (e.g. jigging, fiddling, sewing, beading), Indigenous Language 
 (Wıìlıìdeh), Birchbark Discovery Centre, Athletic Pursuits 

 -  N.J. Macpherson School (NJM):  Montessori, Art, Music, Drama, Gymnastics, 
 Pre-Intensive French Camps (Grade 5), Outdoor Learning, Indigenous 
 Education & Cultural Experiences, Indigenous Language (Wıìlıìdeh) 

 École  Įtł  ̓  ò  ̨  :  French Immersion, Indigenous Language  (Wıìlıìdeh), Recorders, 
 Choir, Dance, Afterschool Art and Athletic Programs 

 6  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 010



 vi)  French Programs 

 Outlined below are key planned programs, strategies, and/or activities for 2023-2024 
 which promote French Programs: 

 -  French Immersion programs (Junior Kindergarten to Grade 12) 
 -  Intensive and Post-Intensive French programs (Grade 6 to 12) 
 -  Pre-intensive French camps for Grade 5 students 
 -  French cultural events (e.g.  Camps de Neige  , French  Language Camps, etc.) 
 -  Well-resourced libraries and classrooms 
 -  Use of technology to support language development 
 -  French author visits to YK1 
 -  Access to a variety of professional development opportunities 

 vii)  Information Technology 

 The YK1 Technology Services Department consists of one Manager of Information 
 Technology and two Information Technology Officers. 

 The YK1 Technology Services Department maintains an infrastructure that allows 
 students and staff to have the best network experience for their education and 
 teaching. This infrastructure is maintained on a regular basis to ensure ongoing 
 dependable technology services. All teachers in the District are given laptops which 
 allows them to be able work at home when required. This has been very beneficial for 
 travel or remote learning. The District has over 1,700 Chromebooks that are used in the 
 classroom to help with classroom learning. Over 150 of these devices are available to 
 be loaned to students who require them to give these students the ability to continue 
 their learning from a distance should the need arise. We have also installed exterior 
 internet access points at SJF and WMS which will allow those with limited or no Internet 
 access to be able to continue their learning online.  This also allows classes to be held 
 outdoors weather permitting. We are also involved with technology-based professional 
 development in order to help keep our staff up to date.  

 7  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 011



 viii)  Inclusive Schooling 

 In keeping with the recommendations of the Inclusive Schooling review conducted by 
 the Department of Education, Culture and Employment, we will have a complement 
 of 16.0 (PST) Program Support Teachers. 

 The budget for Inclusive Schooling includes salaries and benefits for two Inclusive 
 Schooling Coordinators (addition of one), Program Support Teachers, Education 
 Assistants, and O&M expenses. Inclusive schooling funding provides support and 
 resources for all students in the District. 

 To support the YK1 strategic priority,  “to ensure  all students receive programming which 
 responds to their diverse learning needs in a respectful and inclusive manner”,  the 
 District will complement the ongoing work by contracting supports and services in the 
 area of supporting diverse and self-regulating learners to work with teachers. 

 The ongoing support of students with complex learning needs through educational 
 programming and support. 

 Counselling support for the schools is available through the Department of Health and 
 Social Services, Child & Youth Counsellors (CYC) staff are assigned to each school. YK1 
 aims to support social-emotional learning to support positive academic, health and 
 career outcomes as referenced in the MDI. 

 ix)  Indigenous Language and Culture Based Education Programs 

 YK1’s commitment to enhance and promote Indigenous Education to meet the needs 
 of Indigenous students and to benefit all students is demonstrated through the 
 following programs and initiatives: 

 -  An Indigenous Languages & Education Coordinator position ensures the 
 implementation of all facets of ECE’s Indigenous Language Education (ILE) 
 Policy, ILE Handbook, “Our Languages” Curriculum, and ILE Directive. 

 -  A  Dene Kede  Facilitator position builds 
 upon the number and quality of culture 
 camps and cultural experiences offered 
 to students throughout the District. 

 -  YK1 will support the Elders in School 
 (Community Support) program in order to 
 have them and other community 
 resource people become part of the 

 8  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 012



 school community and to share traditional skills and knowledge 
 -  YK1 Indigenous Language staff are collaborating with the Department of 

 Education and Culture and the Teaching and Learning Centers to implement 
 the new “Our Languages Curriculum” 

 -  Staff will continue to receive support, in technology, in order to advance the 
 development of Indigenous language program resources. 

 -  YK1 will also coordinate an ongoing professional development plan to ensure 
 teachers receive the education and training required to effectively implement 
 Dene Kede  Junior Kindergarten to Grade 9 curriculum  and integrate 
 Indigenous Cultural activities in Grades 10 to 12. 

 In addition to YK1’s Indigenous Education budget, each school will continue to assign a 
 portion of their O&M budget in support of school-based ILE programming. Annual 
 school goals and teacher long-range plans will reflect the Indigenous languages and 
 education goals as outlined in the YK1 Strategic Plan. 

 x)  Jordan’s Principle (JP) & Inuit Child First Initiative 

 Jordan's Principle & Inuit Child First Initiative makes sure all First Nations & Inuit children 
 living in Canada can access the products, services and supports they need, when they 
 need them. Funding can help with a wide range of health, social and educational 
 needs, including the unique needs that First Nations Two-Spirit & Inuit and LGBTQQIA 
 (  lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, questioning,  intersex and allies)  children 
 and youth and those with disabilities may have. 

 The Budget for Jordan’s Principle & Inuit Child First Initiative is the sum of the Schools’ 
 applications for Jordan’s Principle funding & Inuit Child First Initiative for the next school 
 year based on the identified need.  If schools are successful in their applications, the 
 total budget for Jordan’s Principle & Inuit Child First Initiative is approximately $4,403,370 
 to $6,000,000. 

 -  3 to 5 Teachers 
 -  53 to 60 Education Assistants 

 xi)  Facilities and Maintenance and Capital 

 The budget for facilities and maintenance covers the salaries and benefits for 5.25 
 maintenance staff and the operating and maintenance costs for six schools and the 
 District Office building. Maintenance staff to ensure that the buildings are fully 

 9  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 013



 operational and complete repairs and maintenance as identified. These positions 
 include: 

 -  1.0 Director of Operations 
 -  4.0 Maintenance Personnel 
 -  0.25 Groundskeeper 

 The budget for utilities is approximately $1,837,572 million for six schools and the District 
 Office.  There is a decrease from the current year for the funding for utilities.  The 
 Department of Education has changed the funding formula for utilities to a rolling three 
 year average.  The decrease in funding from the previous year is -$69,225.  We are 
 experiencing an increase in utility costs due to the rising cost of fuel and colder winters 
 for the past two years. 

 If actual expenditures for utilities are less than the funded amount for utilities from ECE, 
 the difference will be moved to an LED Light Conversion project. The LED reserve is to 
 be used for the installation of LED lights at schools to save on the cost of power. 

 The budget for O&M to purchase materials and supplies for repairs and maintenance 
 to schools is approximately $373,970. 

 The budget for Capital Projects is $500,000.  The following Capital Projects are planned 
 for the upcoming school year: 

 -  $90,000, New stage doors for William McDonald School and Range Lake 
 North School 

 -  $20,000, Additional Fence at front of School for Range Lake North School 
 -  $80,000, New Bleachers for Range Lake North School 
 -  $30,000, Main electrical breaker, Mildred Hall School 
 -  $50,000, Day fuel tanks NJ Macpherson School and Ecole Sir John 

 Franklin High School 
 -  $30,000, Roof & skylight repair, NJ MacPherson School 
 -  $70,000, Teepee, Mildred Hall School 
 -  $50,000, Man lift, Maintenance Department 
 -  $80,000, Vehicles, Maintenance Department 

 10  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 014



 Budget Highlights and Overview 
 Enrolment Highlights 

 School  Enrolment 

 Sep 2020  Sep 2021  Sep 2022  Change 
 2022 vs 2021 

 RLN  285.00  262.00  260.00  -2.00 

 NJM  384.00  351.00  350.50  -.50 

 SJF  653.75  635.00  657.50  22.50 

 ITLO  291.00  307.50  284.50  -23.00 

 MHS  263.00  281.00  285.50  4.50 

 WMS  246.00  253.50  257.50  4.00 

 Total  2,122.75  2,090.00  2,095.50  5.5 

 Dettah 
 Students 

 11  8  8  0 

 Total  2,133.75  2,098.00  2,103.50  5.5 

 The guideline used for the majority of expenditure allocations in this budget is from ECE’s 
 funding framework. 

 The chart illustrates the change in enrolment in our six schools from September 2020 to 
 September 2022. 

 YK1 is funded based on the September enrollment of the previous school year.  For fiscal 
 budget year 2023/2024, we will be funded based on September 30, 2022 enrolment 
 numbers. 

 YK1’s enrollment has increased by 5.50 (FTE) full-time equivalent students from September 
 2021 to September 2022. 

 11  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 015



 Budget Overview 

 The funding allocation from the Department of Education, Culture & Employment is 
 $28,708,542.70.  This funding amount is based on the blended rate calculation. 

 Calculation for the Blended funding rate for 2023/2024: 

 FTE  %Funded  Blended 
 GNWT  Rate 

 JK to Grade 9 students  1586.5  75%  1,189.9 
 Grade 10-12 students  509.0  100%  509.0 
 Total  2095.5  1,698.9  0.810725 

 ECE provides approximately 81.07% of education formula funding for YK1. This total does not 
 include any salary increases for all staff as both GNWT collective agreements with the 
 Northwest Territories Teachers Association and the Union of Northern Workers collective 
 agreements have expired.  The funding for YK1 staff salary increases will be based on the 
 GNWT agreements with the two respective unions.  Based on the latest collective 
 bargaining agreements recently settled with the City of Yellowknife, we are estimating salary 
 increases of 3%.  Therefore, an additional revenue estimate of $750,000 is included for the 
 estimated 3% salary increases for all staff. 

 The City of Yellowknife Property taxation should make up the balance of the education 
 formula funding 100% - 81.07% = 18.9%, a portion that is not funded by ECE. 

 The amount collected from the City of Yellowknife Property Taxation is calculated based on 
 two components: 

 1.  Residents allocating their school property tax to the Yellowknife 
 Education District of choice (YCS or YK1) 

 2.  The undeclared total property tax base multiplied by the mill rate and 
 allocated to YK1 is based on the market share of Yellowknife students 
 between Yellowknife Catholic Schools (YCS) and YK1.  The market share 
 for September 30, 2022 is estimated to be 59.73%, an increase of 1.5% 
 from 58.23% from previous year 

 YK1 will need to collect approximately $ 7,110,969 to achieve 100% funding (based on a 3% 
 salary increase estimate). 

 The amount of City of Yellowknife property tax collected in the current year is $6,777,900. 
 YK1 would need to collect $7,110,969, an increase of $333,069 in order to achieve 100% 
 education formula funding. 

 12  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 016



 The actual property taxation number provided by the City of Yellowknife for Budget year 
 2023/2024  is $6,880,000, which is $230,969 less than needed. 

 City of YK property Tax Allocation: 

 Actual  $6,880,000  18.32% 
 Needed  $7,110,969  18.93% 
 Shortage  $   230,969  0.6149% 

 YK1 Funding percentage %: 
 ECE funding  81.07% 
 City of YK  18.32% 
 Total  99.39% 

 The funding shortage from the City of Yellowknife property taxation is $230,969 (0.6149%), 
 resulting in an overall funding percentage at 99.39%.  However, the Board of Trustee has 
 chosen not to request an increase to the property taxes allocated to school boards for this 
 budget year.  The mill rate used to calculate property taxes have not been increased in 
 Yellowknife for more than 18 years. 

 The increase in Jordan Principal's funding over the past few years has helped support 
 students.  The funding has increased to over $4 million, and the addition of over 53 staff, 
 mainly Education Assistants in our schools. 

 With the increase in interest rates to over 4%, we are able to earn a higher return on our 
 investments in Guaranteed Investment Certificates (GICs), and Government Investment 
 pool.  The increase in surplus from the sale of Nordic Arms has given us more cash to invest. 
 Interest income has doubled since last year, earning more than $400,000. 

 The projected unrestricted surplus for June 30, 2023 is approximately 8% to 10% of revenues 
 of approximately $3.5 million to $4.3 million.  $2 million of this surplus is attributed to the sale 
 of the Nordic Arms apartment building from the previous fiscal year. 

 Total expected revenue is  $43,543,312 
 Total projected expense is  $44,285,281 
 Deficit Budget  $  -741,969 

 The deficit budget includes unstaffed or on reserve 2 Teachers, 2 Junior Kindergarten staff, 
 and a 0.5 Janitorial staff totaling approximately $420,000 to be allocated based on increase 
 in enrollment or increase in needs in the schools in September. 

 13  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 017



 The Board of Trustees chose to use surplus funds to fund the Property Tax Revenue shortfall of 
 $ 230,969, and $511,000 to maintain quality programming for a total Budget 2023/2024 of 
 $741,969. 

 Maintaining at least a 7% accumulated surplus is prudent to absorb any unexpected 
 increase in costs and to support emergent needs for students and assets throughout the 
 school year. 

 Budget Changes after Ratepayers Meeting May 2, 2023 

 Increase in the Group Professional Development Budget for the Board of Trustees $20,000. 
 This will fund the annual professional development for the group to attend a conference 
 outside of the NWT. 

 Addition of NWT Sports Coordinator Budget of $20,000 to go towards a Student Support 
 Coordinator for the NWT.  This is a joint cost sharing initiative of all the NWT School Boards. 

 Deficit Budget Ratepayers May 2  $  -741,969 
 Board Budget increase  -20,000 
 School Program Increase  -20.000 
 Revised Proposed Budget  $ -781,969 May 23, 2023

 14  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 018



 Actual Staff in Schools for 2022-2023: 

 *There are 7 CYCC Counselors, employed by the GNWT to provide counseling services in YK1 schools. 

 15  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 019



 Budgeted Staff in Schools for 2023-2024: 

 *Jordan’s Principle and Inuit Child First Initiative applications are not yet approved. The budget for JP is based on 53.50 
 positions. FTE numbers above are current positions to date.  Estimated total positions are between, 53.50 to 60.00. 

 16  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 020



 Summary of Staffing Changes from 2022-2023 to 2023-2024 

 School Programs 
 -  Addition of 2.00 Junior Kindergarten Staff unassigned 
 -  Addition of 0.5 Janitor unassigned 
 -  Teachers staffing total remains the same with two positions on reserve 

 Inclusive Schooling 
 -  Addition of 1.0 Inclusive Schooling Coordinator position for a total of 2.0 

 Administration 
 -  Addition of Receptionist position to support new Organization Chart. 

 Jordan’s Principle & Inuit Child First Initiative (positions contingent on approval of 
 proposals from Federal Government) 

 -  Estimated approximately 53 to 60.0 positions based on applications submitted to the 
 program.  Budgeted cost is based on 52.50 positions. 

 COVID-19 
 -  Reduction of COVID Janitors as COVID funding is expended. 

 17  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 021



 18  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 022



 19  |  Page 
 YK1 Budget 2023-2024 

May 23, 2023 - Page 023



 

Form date: April 2023 

 

BOARD REPORT 
Title: USW Contract Approval July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025 (3 Years) 

Contact: Tina Drew,  Negotiations Committee 

Date Submitted: May 23, 2023 

Mandate:  
• USW and YK1 Collective Agreement Approval 

Background: The changes with monetary impacts are: 
• Adding National Truth and Reconciliation Day to the list of paid 

holidays (6.01) 
• Small additions to eligibility for compassionate leave (10.04) 
• Increased maternity leave top-up from 85% of basic pay to 93%, 

bringing it into line with the NWTTA (10.08) 
• Paid leave (2 days)  for admin support staff with more than one 

but fewer than 5 years of service (11.01) 
• Benefits coverages improvements to match the NWTTA (15.01). 
• Increased medical travel costs coverage to match NWTTA 

(19.02). 
• Improvements to Clothing Provided & Allowance (17.10) 
• A 1.75% wage increase eff. July 1, 2022. 
• A one-time Vacation Travel Allowance of $2000, eff. date of 

ratification. 
• An additional two years of term, expiring June 30, 2025, with 

formula wage re-openers at July 1, 2023 and at July 1, 2024. 

 

Other Headings as 
appropriate: 
- Current 
- Survey 

Response 
 

Negotiations with USW were conducted from April 3-6. 
The USW members ratified the Collective Agreement for July 1, 2022 to 
June 30, 2025 on Tuesday May 16, 2023. 
- Vote was Unanimous from USW members ( School Secretaries, 

Maintenance, Janitors) 

Recommendations: I move that the Board of Trustees of Yellowknife Education District No.1 approve 
the three year July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025  Collective Agreement between 

YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO.  1 
and 

May 23, 2023 - Page 024



 

Form date: April 2023 

UNITED STEEL, PAPER AND FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACTURING, ENERGY, 
ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION  

(UNITED STEELWORKERS) LOCAL 1-207 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 025



 

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION 
DISTRICT NO. 1  

 
AND  

 
UNITED STEEL, PAPER AND 

FORESTRY, RUBBER, 
MANUFACTURING, ENERGY, 
ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND 

SERVICE WORKERS 
INTERNATIONAL UNION  

(UNITED STEELWORKERS) 
LOCAL 1-207 

 
July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2025 

May 23, 2023 - Page 026



~ ii ~ 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 This page 
intentionally left 

blank 

May 23, 2023 - Page 027



~ i ~ 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
ARTICLE ................................................................................. PAGE 
 1 PURPOSE OF THE AGREEMENT  ............................................. 1 

 2 MANAGEMENT  ..................................................................... 3 
 3 UNION RECOGNITION  ......................................................... 3 

 4 COMMITTEES AND REPRESENTATIVES  ................................ 4 
 5 HOURS OF WORK  ................................................................. 5 

 6 PAID HOLIDAYS  .................................................................. 6 
 7 UNION DUES  ....................................................................... 7 

 8 SENIORITY  .......................................................................... 8 
 9 APPOINTMENTS AND PROMOTIONS  .................................. 13 

10 LEAVE OF ABSENCE  ........................................................... 14 
11 VACATION WITH PAY  ........................................................ 20 

12 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  ................................................... 20 
13 ARBITRATION  ................................................................... 22 

14 SEVERANCE PAY  ................................................................ 23 

15 HEALTH AND INSURANCE  .................................................. 24 
16 NO DISCRIMINATION  ........................................................ 25 

17 SAFETY AND HEALTH  ......................................................... 26 
18 TRANSPORTATION DURING WORKING HOURS  .................. 28 

19 TRANSPORTATION  ............................................................ 28 
20 OVERTIME  ......................................................................... 29 

21 GENERAL ............................................................................ 30 
22 SALARY RANGE .................................................................. 31 

23 CLASSIFICATIONS  ............................................................. 32 
24 DURATION AND RENEWAL  ................................................ 32 

25 NO STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS  ............................................... 33 

SCHEDULE A – SALARIES JULY 1/22 – JUNE 30/25 .................... 34 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 028



~ 1 ~ 

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE THIS __th DAY OF ____, 2023.  
 

BETWEEN:  
 

YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO.1  
(HEREINAFTER CALLED THE "BOARD")  

 
Party of the first part  

 
AND  

UNITED STEEL, PAPER AND FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACTURING, ENERGY, 
ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION  

(UNITED STEELWORKERS) LOCAL 1-207 
(HEREINAFTER CALLED THE "UNION")  

 
Party of the second part 

 
ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF THE AGREEMENT  
 
  Definition 
 
  The term "dependent" as used herein shall include:  
 
  (1) Spouse.  
 
  (2) Unmarried dependent children under age 21.  
 
  (3) Unmarried children over age 21, but not yet attained age 25, and in full-time 

attendance at a University or similar institution of learning.  
 
  (4) Unmarried dependent children over age 21 who are mentally or physically 

disabled.  
 
  NOTE: In order to qualify as dependents, children must be considered dependents 

for income tax (whether or not the employee claims for them) and a resident of 
Canada.  

 
  For the purpose of group insurance, the definition of dependent shall be limited to 

the definitions set forth by the insurance carriers in the policies subscribed to by 
the district.  

 
  "Child" means any child of the employee or spouse, including any step child, 

adopted child or foster child.  
 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 029



~ 2 ~ 

  "Spouse" includes common-law spouse. A common-law spouse is a person who 
has resided in the employee's household for twelve consecutive months and who 
throughout that time was publicly represented by the employee as the employee's 
spouse. 

 
  A ‘summer student’ is enrolled in a program of secondary or post-secondary 

education and is hired for any period during the months April through September 
to perform bargaining unit work under this collective agreement. The rate of pay 
shall be as per the applicable hourly rate for casual employees, which includes four 
percent (4%) vacation pay. Summer students are not entitled to allowances and 
benefits.  

 
  A “Part-time employee” shall mean an employee regularly employed by the Board 

who provides service for less than the regular hours of work per week as 
established by the Board's policy. Part-time employees shall receive the salary and 
benefits stipulated in this Agreement on a prorated basis, according to the 
percentage of time worked.  

 
  A “Casual employee” shall mean an employee who is not regularly employed by 

the Board, but who provides service as required on a per-diem basis. The rate of 
pay as per Schedule A and Schedule B and Schedule C includes four percent (4%) 
vacation pay. Casual employees are not entitled to allowances and benefits.  

 
  Where applicable, casual assignments shall only be used to replace employees 

absent due to illness, injury, vacation, and approved leaves of absence of twelve 
[12] months or less. In the event the casual assignment exceeds twelve [12] 
months, allowances and benefits will be paid on a pro rata basis, according to the 
percentage of time worked beyond the twelve [12] months.  

 
  A casual employee shall be permitted to submit an application for a permanent full 

time or part time position when such a position becomes available. On acceptance 
of full or part time employment and the passing of the probationary period, a 
casual employee will be credited with seniority for time worked in the most recent 
period of casual service with the Employer.  

 
  A “Term Employee” is one that is hired on a contract with a start date and an end 

date. An employee hired on a term contract for less than one (1) year shall be 
eligible for the following provisions on a pro rata basis:  

 
  (a) Sick Leave (Article 10.03)  
 
  (b) Group Insurance (Article 15.01)   
 
 
 1.01 The parties of this agreement agree to promote harmonious relations and to settle 

conditions of employment between the Board and the Union, to promote 
cooperation and understanding between the Board and its staff, to recognize the 
mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in matters pertaining to working 

May 23, 2023 - Page 030



~ 3 ~ 

conditions, hours of work and wage scales, to encourage efficiency in operation, 
and to promote the morale and well-being, safety, health and security of all the 
employees in the bargaining unit of the Union. 

 
  And, whereas it is now thought desirable that the methods of bargaining and all 

matters pertaining to working conditions of the employees be drawn up on 
agreement as follows. 

 
ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT  
 
 2.01 The Board shall have the right to control and supervise all operations and direct 

all working forces. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it shall be the 
sole and exclusive prerogative of the Board to hire, to lay off, to discharge, to 
terminate, suspend or discipline for just cause; to promote, to demote or transfer, 
and to control and promote efficiency in all operations. Provided, however, that in 
the exercise of the foregoing Management Rights the Board shall not contravene 
the provisions of this agreement and shall exercise the above rights in a fair and 
equitable manner.  

 
ARTICLE 3 - UNION RECOGNITION  
 
 3.01 The Board recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for 

those employees in the employ of the Board, save and except those to the 
N.W.T.T.A. and all employees excluded by law including those in a confidential 
capacity.  

 
 3.02 Should a dispute arise concerning whether a particular person comes within the 

bargaining unit covered by this agreement, the matter may be submitted by either 
party to the Canada Industrial Relations Board for decision.  

 
 3.03 No employee within the bargaining unit shall be laid off as a result of the Board 

hiring additional staff to perform the same or similar duties.  
 
 3.04 Work of the type being performed by an employee of the bargaining unit shall 

continue to be performed by a member of the bargaining unit, provided that the 
job is still necessary. The Board may contract out work normally performed by 
members of the bargaining unit if the required type of personnel is not available 
within the bargaining unit or by normal hiring from outside but such contracting 
out will not affect the jobs presently held by bargaining unit employees.  

 
  In the event that the Union has concerns over the Board’s decision to contract out 

work of the bargaining unit the Board agrees, upon the Union’s request, to meet 
with the members of the Union executive to discuss the matter of the work being 
contracted out. Such meeting will be as expeditious as possible. The Board will 
give full consideration to any suggestions that the Union may have in respect to 
keeping the work within the bargaining unit. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 031



~ 4 ~ 

3.05 Whenever a new regular, full-time, part-time, casual or temporary employee is 
hired, or an employee quits, is terminated, laid off or retires, the Unit Chair and 
Regional Representative of Local Union 1-207 as well as the servicing Staff 
Representative of the United Steelworkers will be notified electronically. A union 
representative will be invited to meet with the new employee following the 
documentation meeting.  

 
 3.06 If an employee is transferred to a supervisory position, the employee shall be 

excluded from the coverage of this agreement. Such an employee shall accumulate 
seniority for the period of the transfer provided that the total time of the transfer 
does not exceed a complete school year. In the event that the employee is relieved 
of or relinquishes their position within the said school year, the employee shall 
have the right to return to the bargaining unit and be credited with seniority which 
the employee had at the point of being transferred to the supervisory position 
providing the said employee has paid regular monthly dues and assignments, if 
any. In addition, such notice of promotion and demotion shall be in writing to the 
Union.  

 
ARTICLE 4 - COMMITTEES AND REPRESENTATIVES  
 
 4.01 The union shall notify the Board, in writing, of the names of all local committee 

members and representatives when changes occur.  
 
 4.02 Committee members and/or representatives, who are required to conduct union 

business during the normal hours of work shall first receive permission from their 
immediate supervisor.  

 
 4.03 Union representatives, not in the employ of the Board, who wish to speak to 

members of the bargaining unit, shall advise the Superintendent or designate of 
this intent. The Superintendent or designate may contact the employee[s] so that 
they are able to confer privately and will not interfere with other members of staff. 
The union shall be notified electronically of all ‘designate’ assignments.  

 
 4.04 Union-Management Committee meetings shall be held a minimum of three [3] 

times per school year. The committee shall consist of two [2] representatives of 
the Union and two [2] representatives of the Employer.  

 
(a) The Union recognizes the right and responsibility of the Board to formulate 

policy.  The Board and the Union further recognize the advantages and 
acknowledge the mutual benefits to be derived from effective 
communications between employees and administrators. 

 
(b) The Committee shall not deal with interpretation/grievance matters, nor 

discuss modification of the collective agreement or any other matter properly 
left to the normal collective bargaining process.  No agreement, decision, or 
action of the committee shall be construed as an interpretation or modification 
of this agreement. 

May 23, 2023 - Page 032



~ 5 ~ 

 
ARTICLE 5 - HOURS OF WORK  
 
 5.01 Custodial/Maintenance Employees  

  The normal work week shall consist of five (5) consecutive days, eight (8) hours 
per day for a total of forty (40) hours per week as fixed by the Director of 
Operations. 

With the approval of the Director of Operations, Janitorial/Maintenance 
Employees may elect to split their shift. 

 
5.02 Administrative Employees 

 
(a) The normal workweek for administrative employees shall consist of either 

five (5) consecutive seven (7) hour days, Monday to Friday, for a total of 
thirty-five (35) hours, or five (5) consecutive seven and one half (7.5) hour 
days, Monday to Friday, for a total of thirty-five and one half (37.5) hours 
and each workday shall include, in addition to these hours, a one (1) hour 
unpaid lunch period.  

 
  (b) The hours of work each day shall be determined by the Principal in the case 

of schools and by the Director, Corporate Services for all others. Such hours 
shall be conditional upon employee selection, per (a) above. 

 
 5.03 The School Finance and Administrative Assistant's working year shall consist of 

those days considered "Sessional Days" as per the school calendar plus an 
additional three (3) weeks, to be determined by the Principal, during the school 
summer holidays. Teacher Conference and Professional Development Days shall 
be considered as sessional days.  

 
  Where a school Finance and Administrative Assistant works less than a full year, 

as defined by this article, the formula for calculating a school Finance and 
Administrative Assistant's salary entitlement for the remainder of a school year is 
as follows:  

 
  [(Total # of days worked in school year) ÷ (the # of sessional days in the school 

year + 15 days)] X (annual salary as per schedule A). 
 
 5.04 An employee shall be allowed a rest period of fifteen (15) minutes in the morning 

and fifteen (15) minutes in the afternoon, which will be considered as time worked.  
 
 5.05 For work performed on Saturday and Sunday, a premium of seventy-five (75) 

cents per hour will apply for each hour worked by Janitorial/maintenance 
employees.  

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 033



~ 6 ~ 

 5.06 For all hours worked after 4:00pm for janitorial staff and 5:00pm for 
maintenance staff, an afternoon premium of seventy-five (75) cents per hour will 
apply for each hour worked.  

  Afternoon premiums will be added into regular pay for affected employees as a 
regular premium. Employees who occasionally work after these hours shall 
complete a timesheet.  

 
 5.07 An employee, who has been hired for a specific term to replace a regular employee 

who has been granted leave of absence, shall not be deemed to have seniority for 
the purposes of appointments and promotions under Article "9" of the Collective 
Agreement until such time as the employee is hired to a Non-Term position. Upon 
being hired to a Non-Term position previous service will be counted for seniority 
purposes.  

 
 5.08 Except as specified in 5.07 above all provisions of the Collective Agreement shall 

apply to term employees. 
 
 5.09 Employees who are directed to change their regular shifts on an on-going basis 

will be given forty-eight (48) hours’ notice prior to the change in shift happening. 
If the notice is not given, the employees will receive overtime for the first shift of 
that week. This provision does not apply to emergent situations.  

 
ARTICLE 6 - PAID HOLIDAYS  
 
 6.01 All employees shall have the following holidays at their regular rate of pay:  
 
  New Year’s Day  Labour Day   Remembrance Day 
  Good Friday  Thanksgiving Day  Christmas Day 
  Easter Monday  Canada Day  Boxing Day 
  Victoria Day  Civic Holiday  National Indigenous Peoples Day  
          National Truth & Reconciliation Day 
 
  And, any special day proclaimed by the Government of Canada, the Government 

of the Northwest Territories, or the City of Yellowknife.  
 
 6.02 When a paid holiday occurs on a Saturday or Sunday, the holiday shall be observed 

on a working day or working days continuous with the weekend. Such days shall 
be determined by the Board.  

 
 6.03 In order to qualify for payment for the above holidays, the employee must have 

worked the regular day immediately preceding and immediately following the 
holiday, exceptions to this being an absence due to vacation, bereavement leave, 
illness, jury or witness duty, approved leave of absence, and lay-off not exceeding 
two (2) weeks prior to the holiday.  

  

May 23, 2023 - Page 034



~ 7 ~ 

 
 
ARTICLE 7 - UNION DUES  
 
 7.01 Membership  
 
  The Board agrees that all employees covered under this Agreement, and all new 

employees hired subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement shall, as a 
condition of their hiring or continued employment: 

 
  i) authorize the Board in writing on a form provided by the Union to deduct 

union dues from their pay: and  
 
  ii) become members of the Union within thirty (30) days from their effective 

date of hire, and remain members of the Union in good standing; and  
 
  iii) complete and sign a Union Death Benefit card provided by the Union to the 

Board for such purpose, which will be mailed to the servicing staff office with 
the Union portion of the Check-off Authorization.  

 
 7.02 Check-Off Process and Procedures  
 
  (a) The Board shall deduct from the pay of each member of the bargaining unit, 

an amount equivalent to the monthly dues, fees and assessments prescribed 
by the International Constitution of the United Steelworkers.  

 
  (b) The Union will give reasonable notice to the Board of any changes in Union 

dues, fees or assessments which the Board is required to deduct. All changes 
will coincide with the beginning of the employee’s next pay period.  

 
  (c) No later than ten (10) days following the last dues deduction of the month, 

the dues so deducted shall be made payable and remitted to:  
 
   International Finance and Secretary-Treasurer  
   United Steelworkers  
   P.O. Box 9083,  
   Commerce Court Postal Station,  
   Toronto, ON Canada M5L 1K1.  
 
  (d) The monthly remittance shall be accompanied by a completed USW R115 

Form (a summary of the dues calculations made for the month, each month), 
as well as a statement showing the names of each employee from whose 
pay deductions have been made and the total deducted for the month. Such 
statements shall also list the names of the employees from whom no 
deductions have been made and the reason why, i.e. WSCC., W. I., laid off, 
etc.  

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 035



~ 8 ~ 

   A duplicate R115 Form and employee deduction statement as noted in (d) 
above shall be emailed to:  

   USW Local 1-207 office in Edmonton at: financialsecretary@steel207.ca 
Their mailing address is 202, 4264 – 91 A Street, Edmonton, Alberta, T6E 
5V2  

   The Board agrees to print the amount of total deductions paid by each 
employee for the previous calendar year on their annual statement of 
Remuneration (T4 slip).  

 
  (e) The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Board harmless against all 

claims or other forms of liability that may arise out of, or by reason of 
deductions made or payments in accordance with this Article.  

 
ARTICLE 8 - SENIORITY  
 
 8.01 The parties recognize that job opportunities and security shall increase in 

proportion to the length of service. Therefore, in cases of vacancy, promotion, 
transfer, training, lay-off and recall after temporary lay-off, senior employees shall 
be entitled to preference within their classification. 

 
 8.02 Seniority shall be established after a probationary period of ninety (90) days 

worked and shall count from date of employment. Periods of casual employment 
shall not be used in determination of seniority, except as provided in Article 1.  

 
  Seniority shall be maintained and accumulated during: 
 
  (i) Absence due to lay-off, sickness or accident;  
 
  (ii) Authorized leave of absence.  
 
 8.03 Employees who are employed on a part-time basis shall be given credit for the 

time worked beginning on the date of hire. Part-time employees, after having 
worked ninety (90) days shall have completed their probationary period. Part-time 
employees that merit pay increases shall be applied in the same manner as regular 
employees providing they have worked sufficient time and will be in accordance to 
Schedule “A”. 

 
 8.04 An employee shall lose seniority standing for the following reasons, when or if: 
 

(i) the employee voluntarily terminates his employment; 
 
(ii) the employee is discharged for just cause; 
 
(iii) the employee fails to return to work following an authorized leave of absence 

without the approval of the Employer for extension of the leave; 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 036

mailto:financialsecretary@steel207.ca


~ 9 ~ 

(iv) the employee does not return to work from lay-off within fifteen (15) days 
of being notified; and 

 
(v) the employee is on lay-off due to lack of work for a period of more than six 

(6) consecutive months.  
 

8.05 A seniority list, which shall include the names of all employees within the 
bargaining unit, shall be placed on a Board Office bulletin board during the month 
of December and June of each year.  The Union shall be provided with one (1) 
copy. 

In the event of a layoff, an employee with the required qualifications will have 
the right to bump or replace another employee in their own department who has 
less seniority.  

 
   8.06 In the event of layoff, every employee affected shall be given either two (2) weeks 

notice in advance, or two (2) weeks pay in lieu of notice, at the appropriate rate 
of pay. The Union shall be given advance notice of pending layoffs.  

 
 8.07 In the event of layoff, the Board will offer the option to employees to accept 

voluntary layoff. If insufficient employees accept the voluntary layoff, then 
employees shall be laid off in reverse order of seniority to meet the balance of the 
requirement. Should more employees offer to accept voluntary layoff than are 
required, the offers available shall be granted in order of seniority. Employees who 
accept voluntary layoff shall be entitled to severance pay in accordance with Article 
14. 

 
 8.08 The Board will provide as information to the Union copies of the job vacancies, 

successful applicants, a list of new permanent employees and part-time employees 
who have passed their probationary periods.  

 
 8.09 Deferred Salary Leave Plan  
 
  1. The Deferred Salary Leave Plan has been developed to afford an eligible full-

time employee the opportunity to finance a one (1) year leave of absence 
without compensation by deferring portions of the employee's regular salary 
to finance the year of the leave. The Deferred Salary Leave Plan is referred 
to throughout this agreement as the "Plan".  

 
  2. The term of a leave of absence under the Plan shall be a twelve (12) month 

school year period. Under no circumstances shall any leave under the Plan 
exceed one (1) school year.  

 
  3. A full-time employee may be eligible to participate in the Plan, provided such 

employee has fulfilled all the conditions for any previously granted form of 
leave.  

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 037



~ 10 ~ 

  4. A maximum of two (2) employees per school year may access the program: 
One (1) maintenance or Janitorial employee and one (1) secretarial 
employee.  

 
  Application and Notification  
 
  5. An application by an eligible employee for the Plan shall be made in writing 

and must be submitted to the Superintendent of Education on or before 
January 15th of the school year preceding the school year in which the 
eligible employee wishes to enter the Plan. The eligible employee shall set 
out the enrolment date in the Plan, the intended year of absence and the 
reasons for the request.  

 
  6. If there are more applicants for the Plan than can be accommodated, the 

decision as to who should be recommended to the board shall be made by a 
committee to be called the Deferred Salary Leave Committee which shall be 
comprised of:  

 
    (a) one (1) representative of the Union;  
 
    (b) one (1) representative of the Board; and, 
 
    (c) the Superintendent of Education  
 
   The Deferred Salary Leave Committee shall establish priorities for the 

selection of applicants. The Deferred Salary Leave Committee shall forward 
a list of recommended applicants for the Board's approval.  

 
  7. The final approval of the application by an eligible employee shall rest solely 

with the Board. Upon approval by the Board, participation in the Plan will 
become effective on the first day of the following school year.  

 
  8. The Superintendent of Education shall by April 15th, preceding the school 

year in which the eligible employee wishes to enter the Plan, advise the 
employee in writing of the outcome of their application.  

 
  9. A Deferred Salary Leave Plan Agreement must be completed by the 

successful applicants prior to May 15 preceding the school year in which the 
eligible employee has been given approval to enter the Plan.  

 
  10. Failure to return the completed Agreement by the deadline outlined in Article 

8.09.9 above constitutes withdrawal of application.  
 
  Deferred Salary Formula  
 
  11. During each school year prior to the leave of absence year, the participating 

employee, for a maximum of six (6) school years, will receive their gross 
annual salary less the percentage of gross annual salary the eligible 

May 23, 2023 - Page 038



~ 11 ~ 

employee and the Board have agreed to defer in an executed agreement. 
This accumulated percentage of salary plus any interest earned less any 
deductions specified in Article 8.09.15 shall be retained for the employee by 
the deferred salary leave plan provider to finance the year of leave.  

 
  12. The minimum Deferred Salary Leave Plan shall be a three/four-year Plan and 

the maximum will be six/seven-year Plan. The possible combinations are: 
 
    (a) three (3) qualifying non-leave years followed by one (1) year of 

deferred leave (3/4) year plan)  
 
    (b) four (4) qualifying non-leave years followed by one (1) year of deferred 

leave (4/5-year plan)  
 
    (c) five (5) qualifying non-leave years followed by one (1) year of deferred 

leave (5/6-year plan)  
 
    (d) six (6) qualifying non-leave years followed by one (1) year of deferred 

leave (6/7-year plan)  
 
  13. The percentage of gross annual salary the participating employee and the 

Board have agreed to defer may be amended once per school year. Notice 
of such amendment must be given to the Superintendent thirty (30) days 
before the effective date of the amendment.  

 
  14. The percentage of gross annual salary to be deferred in each year shall not 

exceed thirty (30) percent.  
 

  Income Tax  
 
  15. The amount of income tax to be deducted will be computed on the actual 

gross salary, (gross less deferred portion) received by the participating 
employee during each of the calendar years the employee is enrolled in the 
Plan. This will be subject to the Board receiving a ruling to the satisfaction 
of its solicitor from Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) that the Plan 
contemplated hereby is not unlawful and is acceptable to CRA. The 
participating employee is liable for the income tax payable on the deferred 
salary amount plus tax payable on any interest earned in the tax year in 
which it is received.  

 
  Administering the Deferred Salary  
 
  16. The deferred salary amounts shall be placed in trust with the employee's 

name and shall be administered by the deferred salary leave plan provider.  
 
  17. In consideration of the administrative services performed by the Board, the 

participating employee shall indemnify and save the Board harmless against 
any expense, claim, or liability ensuing out of or resulting from such services.  

May 23, 2023 - Page 039



~ 12 ~ 

 
   
  Payment of Deferred Salary During Year of Leave 
 
  18. The participating employee, during the year of leave under the Plan, shall 

not accumulate nor be entitled to the following: 
 
    (a) experience for salary increments, and  
 
    (b) statutory holidays, maternity, sick or any other leaves.  
 

  Benefits  
 
  19. While a participating employee is enrolled in the Plan, any applicable group 

benefits computed with reference to salary shall be structured according to 
full grid salary.  

 
  20. The Board will continue paying its share of applicable group benefits for a 

participating employee during the non-leave school years of the Plan.  
 
  21. The Board will maintain applicable group benefit coverage for a participating 

employee during the year of leave under the Plan, provided such employee 
assumes the full responsibility of paying the total costs for said benefits save 
those required to be paid by the Board by law.  

 
  22. Transportation “travel assistance” allowance will not be paid to the 

participating employee during the year of leave.  
 
  23. Accommodation: approval of suitable arrangements for occupancy of said 

accommodation during the year of leave rests with the Board.  
 
  Withdrawal  
 
  24. An employee who chooses to withdraw from the Plan will notify the Board in 

writing. An employee who chooses to withdraw from the Plan may be 
charged an administration fee of $250.00, to be deducted from the 
employee’s pay.  

 
  25. In the event that Article 8.09.24 is involved, the Board will notify the 

deferred salary leave plan provider of an employee's withdrawal from the 
Plan and arrange for a lump sum adjustment equal to the employee’s 
deferred salary amount.  

 
  26. Should a participating employee die, the Board shall, within ninety (90) days 

of written notification of such death, arrange with the Plan provider for 
payment to the participating employee's estate, subject to the Board 
receiving necessary clearance and proofs normally required for payment to 
an estate.  

May 23, 2023 - Page 040



~ 13 ~ 

 
  27. On return from leave, effort will be made by the Superintendent of Education 

to return the employee to the same position vacated by that employee.  
 
  28. A participating employee on return to duty following the leave shall be 

reinstated at the previous classification and the applicable pay level which 
exists at the commencement of the current school year. 

 
ARTICLE 9 - APPOINTMENTS AND PROMOTIONS  
 
 9.01 The Board will ensure that when a position within the scope of the bargaining unit 

is created or becomes vacant and is required to be filled, it will be posted on school 
or central shop bulletin boards for a period of not less than one (1) week. Failure 
to post will result in the competition being re-posted and the deadline being 
extended for one (1) additional week. 

 
 9.02 Appointments and promotions shall be subject to a thirty (30) day trial period. If 

it is determined during the thirty (30) day trial period that the employee concerned 
does not wish to do the job or does not have the ability to do the job which the 
employee has been promoted to, the employee shall be reinstated to the job held 
immediately prior to the time of promotion.  

 
 9.03 Job Training 
 
  The Education District shall do what is reasonably practical to increase the 

knowledge, training and skill of the employees, having due regard for their 
seniority, to enable them to apply for vacancies in higher or different job 
classifications. Employees who wish to access funding for professional 
development must apply to the Director of Operations (Janitors and maintenance) 
or the Director of Corporate Services (Finance and Administrative Assistants). 
Funds will be allocated from the annual budget amount upon approval by the 
Director of Operations or the Director of Corporate Services. 

 
 9.04 An employee who is temporarily assigned to work in an occupational classification 

carrying a higher rate of pay than the occupational classification 16 which the 
employee normally performs, the employee will be paid at the step on the higher 
pay grid that results in a minimum of a five percent [5%] increase for the time 
worked at the higher-rated classification. Such assignments shall not exceed thirty 
[30] days except by mutual agreement of the Board and the Union.  

 
 9.05 Acting Lead Hand  
 
  a) A Lead Hand assignment shall be used for bargaining unit members required 

to fill vacancies created by supervisory/management absences of a short 
duration (ex. – short term sick leave - i.e. leave not entitled to LTD benefits), 
vacation, other leaves of absence of sixty working days or less]. The parties 
recognize that the Lead Hand assignment is a bargaining unit assignment 

May 23, 2023 - Page 041



~ 14 ~ 

and as such employees acting as Lead Hands will be able to perform 
bargaining unit work as required as well as limited supervisory duties. Such 
duties shall include:  

 
    (i) Carrying of the supervisor’s phone and responding to calls; 
 
    (ii) Developing and printing off work orders, prioritizing work orders and 

distributing work orders based on priority and need;  
 
    (iii) Regular maintenance duties as normally assigned; and 
 
    (iv) Assigning work to and administering work of maintenance and 

janitorial personnel.  
 
  b) Bargaining unit members selected to be Lead Hands will be from the 

Department/Area where the supervisory vacancy occurs.  
 
  c)   Lead Hand assignments shall be rotated equitably amongst qualified 

bargaining unit employees on a voluntary basis and the Employer will keep 
an accurate tracking of Lead Hand assignments for the purposes of 
determining the next employee to be offered a Lead Hand assignment. 
Should no employee volunteer for the Lead Hand assignment the Employer 
shall assign the work to the least senior qualified bargaining unit employee 
first and move up the seniority list for subsequent assignments.  

 
  d) Lead Hands will be required to perform a variety of tasks normally performed 

by the supervisor as mentioned in Section 1 however, Lead Hand’s shall not 
be required to participate in the discipline or discharge of bargaining unit 
employees, or to hire or promote bargaining unit employees. Lead Hands 
will also not be responsible to approve employee holidays, lieu days or 
Leaves of Absences. These responsibilities will be left to the Board office to 
administer in the absence of the regular manager.  

 
  e) The rate of pay for the Lead Hand assignment will be in the form of a 

premium payment of three dollars ($3.00) per hour added to the employee’s 
regular hourly rate.  

 
ARTICLE 10 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE  
 
 10.01 Personal Leave  
 
  (a) An employee shall be allowed up to fifteen (15) working days leave of 

absence without pay for personal reasons if: 
 
    (i) the employee requests it in writing from the Board at least five (5) 

working days prior to the commencement of such leave, and  
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 042



~ 15 ~ 

    (ii) the leave is for good reasons and does not interfere unduly with the 
operations of the Education District.  

 
   In unexpected situations, leave may be granted through verbal notification 

from the Superintendent or the Director, Corporate Services. 
 
  (b) Employees may apply for a one (1) year leave of absence without pay and 

benefits, subject to the following conditions: 
 
    (i) 120-days notice;  
 
    (ii) A maximum of two (2) employees off at any one time: One (1) 

Janitorial/maintenance employee and one (1) secretarial employee;  
 
    (iii) The replacement employee to be determined by the Employer and no 

bumping will be permitted. 
 
 10.02 Special Leave 
 
  In the event of illness to a dependent of an employee when medical or dental 

service is required and the presence of the employee is required, the employee 
shall be granted nine (9) days per year may be used from sick leave entitlements, 
in accordance with the requirements of this clause to allow the immediate or 
emergency care of a dependent, or to provide time for the employee to make 
alternate care arrangements. 

  
10.03 Sick Leave 
 
  (a) Sick leave is provided for the sole purpose of ensuring a continuous income 

to an employee during periods of illness.  
 
  (b) Sick leave credits, which will provide leaves of absence with pay shall be 

accumulated at the rate of two (2) days for each month of service. 
Employees who work less than 100% shall earn sick leave pro-rated on their 
percentage of time.  

 
  (c) Employees shall be entitled to accrue all sick leave earned up to a maximum 

of one hundred and twenty (120) days for future benefits. Employees hired 
before July 1, 2019 shall be entitled to fifty percent (50%) of accumulated 
sick leave credits on death or retirement. 

 
  (d) The Board may require an employee, who claims that they have been absent 

because of sickness, to provide a certificate from a duly qualified medical 
practitioner, certifying that they were unable to perform duties due to illness, 
after four (4) or more consecutive days.  In circumstances of frequent, 
regular, or ‘pattern’ absenteeism, management may request a medical note 
for all absences. Any costs for medical notes will be borne by the Employer. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 043



~ 16 ~ 

  (e) An employee shall be eligible for sick leave from the onset of illness or 
disability. Sick leave credits will not extend beyond the date of eligibility for 
benefits under the Long-Term Disability Plan.  

 
  (f) When an employee is eligible for long-term disability benefits, no further sick 

leave credits shall be earned. However, accumulated sick leave credits shall 
be retained. 

    
  (g) Every effort shall be made to schedule medical appointments outside of 

regular hours of work and to minimize absences when necessary. 
 
 
 10.04 Compassionate Leave  
 
  (a) Leave necessitated by the critical illness or death of spouse, common law 

spouse, child, parent, brother, sister, step brother, step sister, parent of 
spouse, or other relative who is a member of the employee’s household or 
person deemed to assume one of these roles, shall be granted with full salary 
and benefits by the Board as follows: 

 
    (i) up to and including seven (7) days for critical illness 
 
    (ii) up to and including fourteen (14) days in case of combined illness and 

death. 
 
    (iii) up to and including four (4) unpaid days for the purpose of travel in 

the event of critical illness or death which will take an employee out of 
Yellowknife. 

 
  (b) Before payment is made for leave under Article 10.04 (a) of this section, the 

Board may require a medical certificate stating the reason for the absence. 
 
  (c) Leave up to and including seven (7) days necessitated by the death of 

grandparent, grandchild, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, shall be granted by 
the Board. Leave granted under this section shall be at full salary and 
benefits.  

 

d) Leave of one (1) day necessitated by death of an aunt, uncle, niece, or 
nephew shall be granted by the Board. Leave granted under this subsection 
shall be with salary and benefits.  

 
 10.05 Union Business  
 
  An employee who has been elected by the Union to attend Union Conventions, 

Union School or other business of the Union shall be granted leave of absence with 
pay for this purpose. The Board will invoice the Union in accordance with current 

May 23, 2023 - Page 044



~ 17 ~ 

practice for the daily cost of salary, benefits and allowances during the union 
business leave. The Union will inform the Board of the name(s) of the employee(s) 
and the days the employee(s) shall be absent. Such leave shall not exceed a 
maximum of twenty (20) working days in any one calendar year for all employees 
elected by the union. Union leaves may be denied in case of emergency. The Union 
agrees that no more than two (2) employees be absent at any one time.  

 

10.06 Jury Duty  

  The Board shall pay an employee who is required to serve as a juror, or attend as 
a court witness, at any case other than their own, the difference between their 
normal earnings and the pay received for jury duty or as a court witness. The 
employee shall present proof of service and the amount of remuneration received. 

 
 10.07 Maternity Leave 
 
  (a) A female employee shall be granted leave without pay or benefits consisting 

of a period not exceeding seventeen (17) weeks upon making application in 
writing, to the Board for leave under this subsection at least four (4) weeks 
before the day specified by her in the application as the day on which she 
intends to commence such leave and, providing the Board with a certificate 
from a qualified medical practitioner certifying that she is pregnant and 
specifying the estimated date of confinement. 

 
  (b) The leave of absence without pay or benefits shall consist of seventeen (17) 

weeks, if confinement occurs on or before the date specified on the 
certificate, or the aggregate of seventeen (17) weeks and an additional 
period equal to the date specified in the medical certificate and the actual 
date of confinement if confinement occurs after the date specified in the 
medical certificate. 

 
  (c) Maternity leave shall begin no earlier than eleven (11) weeks preceding the 

date specified in the medical certificate and end no later than seventeen (17) 
weeks following the actual date of confinement. 

 
  (d) An employee shall not resume her employment with the Board until six (6) 

weeks after her date of confinement unless she provides the Board with a 
certificate from a qualified medical practitioner certifying that she is able to 
resume her employment. 

 
  (e) An employee who resumes her employment on the expiration of leave 

granted to her in accordance with this section shall be reinstated by the 
Board in the position occupied by her at the time such leave commenced or 
in a comparable position with no less than the same wage and benefits and 
her employment after termination of such leave shall be deemed to be 
continuous with employment before commencement of such leave. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 045



~ 18 ~ 

  (f) The Board may grant maternity leave to any female employee to commence 
earlier than eleven (11) weeks before expected termination of her pregnancy 
and may grant maternity leave to a female employee in excess of seventeen 
(17) weeks limit provided in this section. 

 
10.08 Maternity Leave Top-Up Plan 
 
  After completion of ten (10) months continuous employment, an employee who 

provides the Employer with proof that she has applied for and is in receipt of 
employment insurance benefits pursuant to Section 18, Employment Insurance Act 
shall be paid a maternity leave allowance in accordance with the following 
Maternity Leave Top-Up Plan. 

 
  (a) In respect of the period of maternity leave, payments made according to the 

Maternity Leave Top-Up Plan will consist of the following: 
 
    (1) A total of seventeen (17) weeks of payments which will top up the 

employment insurance benefits to 93% of the employee’s weekly rate of 
basic pay. 

 
    (2) Benefits and allowances will be paid out for a period of seventeen (17) 

consecutive weeks from the date of confinement. 
 
  (b) Except where personal health problems or relocation away from Yellowknife 

prohibit a return to work, failure of the employee to return to duty for a 
period of six (6) months, upon the expiry of such approved leave, will render 
the employee responsible for reimbursing the Board for any maternity leave 
allowance paid. 

 
  (c) For administrative staff - Maternity Leave Top-Up Plan shall not be paid 

during the summer break. The summer break shall not be considered as part 
of the total of seventeen (17) weeks for which the top up plan is paid. 

 
 10.09 Leave for Other Reasons 
 
  Any leave requested by an employee not falling under this section shall be 

considered by the Board. 
 
10.10 Paternity Leave and Parental Leave 
 
  (a) Paternity leave of three (3) days with salary and benefits shall be granted to 

an employee who is not accessing EI parental leave in the event of the birth 
or adoption of a child. Such leave shall be taken within two (2) weeks of the 
date of such birth, or adoption.  

 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 046



~ 19 ~ 

  (b) Adoption leave of three (3) days with salary and benefits shall be granted to 
an employee who is not accessing EI parental leave on the adoption of a 
child.  

 
  (c) An employee who intends to request parental leave shall provide four (4) 

weeks notice to the employer.  
 
  (d) Parental leave shall be without salary or benefits. However, an employee 

(except for a term employee of less than one (1) year) who completes ten 
(10) months of continuous employment and who provides the Board with 
proof that he/she has applied for and is eligible to receive Employment 
Insurance benefits shall be granted parental leave.  

 
  (e) An employee on parental leave must give the Board at least sixty (60) days 

notice of his/her intended return to work or sixty (60) days notice from the 
day designated as the last day of the academic year. If notice is not received, 
the employee's employment will be deemed to be terminated.  

 
  (f) Employees have a right to return to the same position as previously held 

upon conclusion of the sixty-three (63) weeks parental leave should the 
position not exist upon the employee’s return the employee shall be placed 
in a position in the same classification with a minimum of the same hours.  

   
  (g) Parental leave will not be counted for the granting of experience increments, 

but will not interrupt continuous service.  
 
  (h) Parental leave will be taken within the first seventy-eight (78) weeks after 

the birth or adoption of a child.  
 

(i) In the case where an employee has taken maternity leave and parental 
leave, the total combined maternity and parental leave cannot seventy-eight 
(78) weeks.  

 
 10.11 An employee may make arrangements with the Board for provision of benefits 

(where carrier permits) during leave that would normally be granted without salary 
and benefits. The employee shall pay the Board the costs of these benefits. 

 
10.12 The Employer will accommodate leaves for Domestic Violence and will comply with 

all related legislated requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 047



~ 20 ~ 

ARTICLE 11 - VACATION WITH PAY  
 
11.01 (a) Employees, other than school Finance and Administrative Assistants,  

earn annual vacation days from date of hire according to the following  
schedule, travel days inclusive: 
• 0 - 1 year – 1.25 days per month of service (prorated to fteq) to a 

maximum of 15 days per year 
• 1 year but less than 5 years - 24 days per year  
• 5 years and over - 29 days per year  

 
  (b) Vacation shall be further lengthened by one (1) work day where a paid holiday 

occurs during that period of a vacation. 
 

(c) The annual vacation for administrative staff cannot take place in what is 
deemed the Finance and Administrative Assistant's working year, as defined 
in Article 5.03, except for two (2) days for those administrative staff with more 
than one (1) but fewer than five (5) years of service, one (1) week for those 
administrative staff with five (5) years but less than fifteen (15) years of 
service, or eight (8) days for those secretaries with fifteen (15) or more years 
of service. 

 
(d) Janitorial staff, whenever possible, will apply for their annual vacation to be 

taken during the school breaks (Christmas, Spring, Summer) as per the school 
calendar.  Janitorial staff may request annual vacation at times other than the 
school breaks and those, subject to operational requirements, will not be 
denied.  

 
 
 11.02 Each employee shall submit their preferred vacation dates to the Board for 

approval, not less than thirty (30) days and not more than ninety (90) days prior 
to the commencement of the vacation. The Board will notify employees within two 
(2) weeks as to whether or not their preferred vacation time has been approved. 
This notification shall be the employee’s leave application signed by the immediate 
supervisor. Senior employees shall be given preference in scheduling vacations.   

 
  Employees shall be allowed to carry over two (2) weeks’ vacation entitlement for 

a one-year period, non-cumulatively. 
 
 11.03 Vacation wages shall be paid at the standard rate of pay that the employee would 

earn in their regular job. 
 
ARTICLE 12 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 12.01 The Board acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint or otherwise select a 
Grievance Committee of three (3) members, who shall be employees of the Board. 
The personnel of such Committee shall be communicated to the Board. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 048



~ 21 ~ 

 12.02 Should a dispute arise between the Board and any employee(s) regarding the 
interpretation, meaning, operation, or application of this Agreement, an earnest 
effort shall be made to settle the dispute in the following manner: 

 
  Step 1 
 
  Any employee accompanied by their steward or a member of the Grievance 

Committee may, provided it is done within the first fourteen (14) days worked by 
such an employee immediately following the occurrences of the circumstances 
giving rise to the Grievance, attempt to settle the dispute with the employee's 
immediate supervisor. 

 
  Step 2 
 
  Failing satisfactory settlement within five (5) days worked, after the dispute was 

submitted under Step 1, the employee(s) concerned, together with the Grievance 
Committee, and a representative of the Union, will submit to the Director of 
Corporate Services a written statement of the particulars of the complaint and the 
redress sought. The Director of Corporate Services shall declare a position and 
render a decision within ten (10) working days after receipt of such notice. 

 
  Step 3 
 
  Failing agreement being reached in Step 2, application shall be made to the Board 

of Education in writing through the Director of Corporate Services stating the 
grievance concerned and a hearing shall be granted to the grievance committee 
and the union representative not later than ten (10) days following receipt of the 
application. 

 
  Step 4 
 
  Failing satisfactory settlement within five (5) working days after the dispute was 

first discussed with the Board, the union may advance the grievance to arbitration 
provided they notify the employer in writing thirty (30) calendar days from the 
employers Step 3 response. 

 
 12.03 Where a dispute between the Parties involving a question, application, 

interpretation, suspension or discharge occurs, such grievances are to be signed 
by two (2) unit officers or grievance committee members and shall be submitted 
at Step 2 of the grievance procedure. 

 
 12.04 Replies to grievances shall be in writing at all stages. 
 
 12.05 Grievances settled satisfactorily within the time allowed shall date from the time 

of the incident. 
 
 12.06 Employees who have not completed their probationary period shall not be eligible 

for redress through the grievance procedure in the event of discharge. 

May 23, 2023 - Page 049



~ 22 ~ 

 
 12.07 The Board will supply the necessary accommodation for the grievance meetings. 
 
 12.08 Should the employer or the union fail to state its answer or decision on a grievance 

at any stage within the time limits set out in this Article, or otherwise agreed upon, 
then the grievance shall be awarded to the other party. 

 
ARTICLE 13 – ARBITRATION 
 
 13.01 Selection of Arbitrator 
 
  When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to arbitration the 

request shall be made in writing, and served upon the other party to the 
Agreement. The matter shall be referred to arbitration within fourteen (14) days. 
Arbitrators shall be appointed in rotation from the following list: 

 
• Mark Asbell 
• Bertha Greenstein 

 
 13.02 Arbitration Procedure 
 
  The Arbitrator may determine procedure, but shall give full opportunity to all 

parties to present evidence and make representations. 
 
  The arbitrator shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and render a 

decision. 
 
 13.03 Decision of the Arbitrator 
 
  The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding to both parties, but in no 

event shall the Arbitrator have the power to alter, modify, or amend this 
Agreement in any respect. 

 
 13.04 Expenses of the Arbitrator 
 
  Each party shall pay one-half the fees and expenses of the arbitrator, and one-half 

the rental fees of a place to meet. 
 
 13.05 Amending of Time Limits 
 
  The time limits in both the grievance and arbitration procedure may be extended 

by consent of the parties of this agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 13.06 Witnesses  

May 23, 2023 - Page 050



~ 23 ~ 

  At any stage of the grievance or arbitration procedure the parties may have the 
assistance of the employee(s) concerned as witnesses, or other witnesses, and all 
reasonable arrangements will be made to permit the conferring parties or the 
arbitrator to have access to any part of the Board's premises in order to view any 
working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance. 

 
ARTICLE 14 - SEVERANCE PAY 
 
 14.01 Lay-off  
 
  (a) An employee who has one (1) year or more of continuous employment and 

who is laid off is entitled to be paid severance pay at the time of lay-off. 
 
  (b) The amount of severance pay shall be two (2) weeks pay for the first 

complete year of continuous employment; two (2) weeks pay for the second 
complete year of continuous employment; and one (1) weeks’ pay for each 
succeeding complete year of continuous employment. The total amount of 
severance pay which may be paid under this clause shall not exceed twenty-
six (26) weeks’ pay.  

 
 14.02 Resignation 
 
  An employee hired before July 1, 2019 who resigns after four (4) years of 

continuous service with the Board is entitled to be paid severance pay on 
resignation in accordance with the following formula: 

 
  (i) Number of years of service x weekly rate of pay on resignation divided by 

two (2), to a maximum of nine (9) weeks pay. 
 
  (ii) Years of service with the Board of Secondary Education for Sir John Franklin 

High School employees will be deducted from the years of continuous service 
for the purposes of this calculation. (Termination benefits from the 
Government of the Northwest Territories have been paid to these employees 
for these years.) 

 
 14.03 Retirement and Termination for Health Reasons – Only for employees 

hired before July 1, 2019 
 

(a) This Clause shall apply to: 
 

    (i) Employees hired before July 1, 2019 that are retired from employment 
by the Board, or 

 
    (ii) Employees hired before July 1, 2019 whose employment is terminated 

as a result of recommendations made that the employee was incapable 
of performing their duties because of chronically poor health, and 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 051



~ 24 ~ 

  b) When employment terminates for either of the reasons stated in (a) above, 
the employee shall be paid severance pay equal to the product obtained by 
multiplying the employees weekly rate of pay on termination of employment 
by the number of completed years of their continuous employment, to a 
maximum of eighteen (18) weeks less any period in respect of which the 
employee was granted severance pay, retiring leave, or a cash gratuity in 
lieu of retiring leave by the Board. 

 
14.04   In the event the Employer makes the determination that an employee is 

incapable of performing the full scope of their duties because of chronically 
poor health and the employee would not be eligible for WSCC, Short Term 
or Long Term Disability benefits or accommodated work, the employee shall 
be paid severance pay equal to the product obtained by multiplying the 
employee’s weekly rate of pay on termination of employment by the number 
of completed years of their continuous employment to a maximum of 
eighteen (18) weeks.   

 
 14.05 Death 
 
  If an employee dies, there shall be paid to their estate/beneficiary an amount equal 

to the product obtained by multiplying the employees weekly rate of pay 
immediately prior to death, by the number of completed years of service with the 
Board to a maximum of twelve (12) weeks regardless of any other benefit payable. 

 
ARTICLE 15 - HEALTH AND INSURANCE 
 
 15.01 The Board shall make available and pay 100% of premiums for Long Term 

Disability Insurance, Life Insurance, Accidental Death and Dismemberment 
Insurance, Dental Insurance and Extended Health Care coverage. The insurance 
plans shall be administered in accordance with the policy with the insurance 
carrier. 

 
  (a) Life and AD. & D. Insurance - 2 times annual salary to a maximum of 

$300,000 
 
  (b) L.T.D.I. - 75% of basic monthly earnings to a maximum of $6,000 per month 
 
  (c) Dental - based on the N.W.T. fee schedule: 
 
    (i) Routine 100% reimbursement to a maximum of $4,000 per person, 

per covered employee, per calendar year; and 
 
    (ii) Major 50% reimbursement to a maximum of $4,000 per person, per 

covered employee, per calendar year 
 
  (d) Orthodontic 50% reimbursement to a lifetime maximum of $5,000 per 

person, per insured employee. 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 052



~ 25 ~ 

  (e) Extended Health Care 
 
  (f) Pay Direct Drug Card for generic brand drugs and a $5.00 dispensing fee 

cap. 
 
  (g) Vision Care - $600 maximum coverage in accordance with Plan 

administration.  
 
  (h) The Employer shall provide for each employee a Health Spending Account 

that adheres to Revenue Canada requirements. The Health Spending 
Account shall be $800 per full-time employee and administered on a pro-
rata basis for other employees. The account shall be used for the benefit of 
the eligible employee, the employee’s spouse and their dependents. 

 
 15.02 Participation in the plans covered in Article 15.01 shall be a condition of 

employment for all employees covered by this Agreement. 
 
 15.03 When employees receive disability benefits under the plans in Article 15.01, no 

further salary, benefits or allowances shall be paid by the Board for the period of 
disability as per Article 10.03. 

 
 15.04 It is understood that payments made toward the aforementioned benefit plan shall 

permit the Board to retain and not pass on to employees any rebates of premiums 
otherwise required under the Employment Insurance Commission Regulations. 

 
 15.05 The Board shall continue to provide a voluntary pension plan under the terms and 

conditions of the present plan. 
 
ARTICLE 16 - NO DISCRIMINATION 
 
 16.01 The Board and the Union agree that there will be no discrimination, intimidation or 

coercion against any employee because of age, race, creed, colour, sex, national 
origin, physical/mental disability, sexual orientation, political beliefs, marital status 
or any other prohibited grounds or provisions recognized under the applicable 
Human Rights legislation. 

 
 16.02 The Board and the Union agree that there will be no discrimination in the hiring, 

training, upgrading, promotion, transfer, layoff, discharge, discipline or otherwise 
of employees because of age, race, creed, colour, sex, national origin, 
physical/mental disability, sexual orientation, political beliefs, marital status or any 
other prohibited grounds or provisions recognized under the applicable Human 
Rights legislation. 

 
 16.03 This agreement shall use gender neutral terms throughout. The singular shall 

include the plural and vice versa. 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 053



~ 26 ~ 

 16.04 The Board and the Union recognize the right of employees to work in an 
environment free of harassment and discrimination. Board administrative 
procedures shall apply and operate independently of the collective agreement. 

 
 
ARTICLE 17 - SAFETY AND HEALTH 
 
 17.01 The Board and the Union mutually agree to secure workers from risks to their 

safety, health and welfare arising out of, or in connection with, activities in their 
workplaces. 

 
  Safety Meetings 
 
 17.02 (a) The Union will be entitled to two (2) representatives on the Board’s 

Occupational Health and Safety Committee, which shall meet at least once 
every three (3) months and may meet outside of the regularly scheduled 
meetings. 

  (b) The Employer agrees to cover the costs of training for approved courses 
available in Yellowknife for members of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee. This provision shall cover regular wages and charges associated 
with training required by legislation. 

 
 17.03 The function of the Committee shall be to jointly consider, monitor, inspect, 

investigate and review health, safety and environmental conditions and practices; 
and make recommendations to the Board. 

 
 17.04 Minutes of such meetings shall be posted on the Union's bulletin board. No 

references to individual employees or to circumstances that could be associated 
with individual employees will be included in the posted minutes. 

 
  Right to Refuse Unsafe Work  
 
 17.05 No employee shall be discharged, penalized, or disciplined for refusing to work on 

a job or in any work place, or to operate any equipment where the employee has 
grounds to believe it would be physically unsafe or unhealthy to do so, or where it 
would be contrary to the applicable federal, territorial, or municipal health and 
safety legislation or regulations. 

 
  There shall be no loss of pay or seniority during the period of refusal. No employee 

shall be ordered or permitted to work on a job or operate a piece of equipment 
where another worker has refused until the matter has been investigated by the 
Occupational Health and Safety Committee and the matter has been satisfactorily 
resolved. 

 
  Injury 
 
 17.06 An employee who is injured in the execution of their duties and is required to leave 

for treatment or is sent home as a result of injury shall receive payment for the 

May 23, 2023 - Page 054



~ 27 ~ 

remainder of the employee’s work day or shift at the employee’s regular rate of 
pay without reduction of sick leave. 

 
 17.07 An employee who has incurred a compensable injury shall have pay and benefits 

maintained until the Workers' Compensation Board benefits come into effect. 
 
 17.08 Employees injured on the job shall be provided free transportation by the Board to 

the hospital. 
 
 17.09 The Board shall provide the Union with copies of all accident reports, and other 

health and safety records in the possession of the Board; insofar as its obligations 
under applicable privacy legislation are met. 

 
  Safety Equipment  
 
17.10  Where the nature of the work or working conditions so requires, the Board shall 

supply employees, at the Board’s expense, with the necessary tools (excluding 
specialized trade tools), protective clothing, safety equipment, and supplies.  

a) Full time indeterminant janitorial employees shall be provided 
 the following: 

• Five (5) YK1 shirts, replaced as required 
• Up to $300 per year, payable upon proof of purchase, for clothing and 

footwear 
• For employees required to work outdoors one (1) YK1 winter coat, replaced 

as required 

b) Maintenance employees shall be provided the following: 

• Three (3) YK1 shirts, replaced as required, 
• Three (3) pairs of pants replaced as required, 
• One (1) YK1 winter coat, replaced as required, and 
• One (1) pair of safety boots, replaced as required. 

 
c) Dress code: 

• Employees must wear clothing provided by the employer 
• Employees must keep clothing provided by the employer clean. Any 

supplied clothing that becomes worn or stained will be replaced by the 
employer. 

• Employees must wear pants that cover the full leg, no writing, logos or 
slogans and do not have holes. Shorts are not allowed. 

• No open toed shoes for janitorial staff 

 
  Duty of Accommodation 
 
 17.11 The Board and the Union will make every reasonable effort to accommodate 

injured workers or workers with disabilities with accommodated or modified duties 

May 23, 2023 - Page 055



~ 28 ~ 

provided that the duties meet the medical restrictions outlined by the employee’s 
medical practitioner on approved medical assessment forms. 

 
 
ARTICLE 18 - TRANSPORTATION DURING WORKING HOURS 
 
 18.01 The Board shall provide transportation for an employee who is transferring from 

one job location to another providing such transfer does not occur at the beginning 
of a work day. 

 
 18.02 Where an employee is required to use their personal vehicle for work-related 

purposes, the employee will be reimbursed in accordance with the employer’s 
private car kilometer rates.  

 
ARTICLE 19 – TRANSPORTATION 
 
19.01 At the end of each school year, the employee shall be eligible to receive a Travel 

Assistance Allowance for the employee between Edmonton and Yellowknife. This 
Allowance will be based on the previous year approved Canada Revenue Agency 
rate.  This vacation travel allowance will be paid on April 30 of each school year 
to current employees or on termination of employment.  This vacation travel 
allowance is pro-rated to FTE (full time equivalent) and the length of service for 
the current school year. 

 19.02 Medical Travel 

  The employee and the employee’s dependents shall be eligible to receive 
reasonable and necessary airfare and hotel accommodation for a maximum of 
seven (7) nights for medical or dental treatment - maximum of two hundred-
twenty-five dollars ($225.00) per night for accommodation, meals, and local 
ground transportation - provided: 

  (i) The treatment is not available in Yellowknife. 
 
  (ii) The treatment is accessed at the closest available destination. 
 
  (iii) Payment is supported by a certificate from a qualified medical or dental 

practitioner stating:  
   (a) that the treatment was non-elective,  
   (b) that it was necessary for the health of the employee or employee’s 

   dependent, and  
   (c) the required length of stay. 
 
  (iv) The leave is pre-approved by the Superintendent. 
 
   

 
 

May 23, 2023 - Page 056



~ 29 ~ 

ARTICLE 20 – OVERTIME 
 
20.01 When an employee is directed to work beyond their regular hours of work, such 

hours shall be considered as overtime and shall be paid for at one and one-half 
(1½) times the employee's hourly rate. Overtime hours must be approved by the 
Employer. 

 
20.02 (a) An employee who is directed to work on a paid holiday, shall be paid one and 
   one-half (1½) times their hourly rate for the hours worked, plus pay for the 
   holiday. 

 
(b) An employee may elect to bank (and not be paid) for overtime hours worked 

to a maximum forty (40) hours, with the exception that an employee will be 
paid for any applicable shift premium associated with these overtime hours 
at the time worked, to a maximum of forty (40) hours. All other overtime 
worked shall be paid as earned. The employee may request in writing to 
have banked time paid out at any time. Once an employee has accumulated 
forty (40) hours in one work year, no more lieu time may be banked until 
July 1, the commencement of the next work year. This is not a rolling, 
refillable bank. Any overtime over this banked amount shall be paid out as 
earned. Unused banked overtime hours remaining in the bank as of July 1 
will be carried over to the next year but will be counted as time earned in 
the new year. An employee may build the bank up to forty (40) hours. 

 20.03 The employee's hourly rate for the purpose of calculating overtime shall be: 
 
  (a) Janitorial/Maintenance Staff: The employee's gross semi-monthly salary 

divided by 86.67. 
 
  (b) Administrative Employees: The employee's gross semi-monthly salary 

divided by 75.83 (for 7-hour workday staff) and 81.25 (for 7.5-hour workday 
a day staff). 

 
 20.04 It is understood that all overtime shall be on a voluntary basis except when 

overtime is necessary to maintain an efficient and effective operation. The Board 
shall distribute overtime as equitably as possible to those employees who are 
qualified for such work on the following basis: 

 
Maintenance and Facilities:  The Director of Operations shall be responsible for 
the distribution of overtime. Employees wishing to work overtime shall make 
their request known to the Director in advance of the overtime to be worked. 

Janitorial: The Director of Operations shall be responsible for the distribution of 
overtime.  Employees wishing to work overtime shall make their request known 
to the Director in advance of the overtime to be worked.  

May 23, 2023 - Page 057



~ 30 ~ 

 
  Where possible the overtime opportunity will be given to bargaining unit 

employees in the particular school/facility where the overtime is to occur. If no 
bargaining unit member that is assigned to that particular school or facility is 
wanting or available to work the overtime, then the overtime opportunity will be 
given out to other employee’s that have expressed an interest in working overtime. 

 
  Administrative Staff (Schools): 
 
  Where practicable, overtime opportunities will be distributed by the Principal of the 

school where the overtime is to be worked. 
 
 20.05 Every employee who is called out (and not merely working extended hours) and 

required to work in an emergency outside his regular working hours shall be paid 
for a minimum of three (3) hours at overtime rates. This provision shall restart at 
the expiry of the initial three-hour period. Additional compensation at the overtime 
rate shall be paid if work required by the callout exceeds three (3) hours. 

 20.06 An employee who is on standby shall be paid fifteen (15) minutes pay for each 
hour he is on standby. 

 
ARTICLE 21 - GENERAL  
 
 21.01 The Board will provide the Union with a copy of those personnel directives and 

memos affecting employees who are members of the bargaining unit. A copy of all 
directives and memos shall be emailed to the USW staff office, as directed by the 
Union. 

 
 21.02 When an employee is first engaged or when an employee is re-assigned to another 

position in the bargaining unit, the Board shall, before the employee is assigned 
to that position, provide the employee with a statement of duties of the position 
to which the employee is assigned.  

 
 21.03 Payment of Salary: Salaries shall be paid monthly. There will be an advance 

payment on the fifteenth (15th) of each month. This amount will be equivalent to 
one-half of net monthly pay and shall be deducted from the month-end pay. If the 
pay date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or statutory holiday, payment will be made 
on the week day preceding the Saturday, Sunday, or holiday. 

 
 21.04 The Board will provide copies of the Collective Agreement to all employees and the 

Union. 
 
 21.05 (a) The Parties agree that they jointly share responsibility for the administration 

of this agreement. It is further agreed that all bargaining unit members are 
entitled to equity in its administration. In the event of an over-payment of 
sick leave credit, or vacation credit or vacation pay, the Employer shall: 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 058



~ 31 ~ 

    1) Notify the employee of the over-payment, including the amount of 
overpayment and the period of time involved; 

 
    2) Require that the employee acknowledge this over-payment in writing, 

and acknowledge that recovery is to be made from current or future 
earnings, payable by the Employer. 

 
    3) Deduct from the employee’s pay the amount(s) of the overpayment(s), 

to be applied over the same period of time as that in which the over-
payment(s) occurred. 

 
   The Union shall advise the employee of the requirement of the recovery of 

any proven over-payment. 
 
  (b) In the event of an under-payment of sick leave credit, vacation credit or 

vacation pay, the Employee shall: 
 
    1) Notify the Employer of the under-payment, including the amount of 

under-payment and the period of time involved; 
 
    2) The under-payment shall be verified by the payroll Department; 
 
    3) Require that the Employer acknowledge this under-payment in writing, 

and acknowledge that recovery is to be made to current or future 
earnings, payable by the Employer. 

 
ARTICLE 22 - SALARY RANGE 
 
 22.01 The Board shall pay wages and salaries semi-monthly, in accordance with Schedule 

“A” of this Agreement. 
 
 22.02 Each employee who has shown adequate proficiency during the period under 

review, as determined by the immediate supervisor and the administrative 
supervisor, shall receive a "within classification rate of pay increase" (hereinafter 
called a "merit pay increase"). The term "administrative supervisor" shall apply as 
follows: For Janitorial/maintenance employees, the Director of Operations; office 
administration staff, the Director, Corporate Services; and for school 
administrative staff, the Principal. 

 
 22.03 The review dates for merit pay increases, for all employees coming within the 

scope of this Agreement, shall be the anniversary date of one (1) year, two (2) 
years, and three (3) years of service with the Education District. 

 
 22.04 Merit pay increases granted to an employee as per Clause 22.03 above shall be on 

the pay period nearest to the employee’s date of employment until the maximum 
in the range of rates has been reached. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 059



~ 32 ~ 

 22.05 If the Employer elects to withhold a merit pay increase, it shall advise the 
employee, in writing, prior to the due date of the merit pay increase. 

 
ARTICLE 23 – CLASSIFICATIONS 
 
 23.01 The establishment and maintenance of a classification plan, which is to be applied 

to all employees of the Board within the scope of this Agreement, shall be the 
responsibility of the Board. However, positions whose duties and responsibilities 
are changed or modified may be reviewed by the Board or at the request of the 
Union. 

 
 23.02 Rates of pay for new classifications which come within the scope of this Agreement 

and are created during the term of this Agreement shall be negotiated with the 
Union. However, if a satisfactory conclusion to negotiations has not been reached 
within ten (10) working days of the date of notice by the Board to the Union of the 
creation of said classification, any vacancy in this classification can be posted 
according to the rate of pay set out by the Board. 

 
 23.03 If the vacancy is posted prior to the satisfactory conclusion of negotiations, the 

rate of pay for the position shall still be a matter of negotiation and if the parties 
agree to a rate which differs from the rate originally posted by the Board, the new 
rate shall be retroactive to the date of appointment of any employee to the new 
position. 

 
 23.04 Where an employee believes that the job description has been improperly classified 

with respect to position, pay range and step, the classification shall be discussed 
with the immediate supervisor. A copy of the job description will be provided for 
the purpose of grievance. 

 

ARTICLE 24 - DURATION AND RENEWAL 

 
 24.01 The duration of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2022 and shall remain in 

effect until June 30, 2025 and, unless otherwise stipulated, the provisions of this 
Agreement shall become effective on the date this Agreement is ratified and shall 
remain in force after the expiry date until a new agreement has been ratified by 
the proper officials of the Board and the Union. 

 
  Ratification by both the Union and the Employer must occur within ten (10) 

working days of the conclusion of negotiations. 
 
 24.02 Either party may, by written notice, no more than ninety (90) calendar days prior 

to the expiry date of this agreement, require the other party to commence 
bargaining for the purpose of renewing or revising this agreement or entering into 
a new agreement. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 060



~ 33 ~ 

 24.03 Where notice to bargain has been given under Clause 24.02, the parties shall meet 
and commence to bargain collectively within forty (40) calendar days of such 
notice. 

 

ARTICLE 25 - NO STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS 

 25.01 The Board shall not cause or direct any lockout of employees during the life of this 
Agreement; and neither the Union or any representative thereof, nor any 
employees shall in any way authorize, encourage or participate in any strike, 
walkout, suspension of work, or slow down on the part of any employee or group 
of employees during the life of this Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES HERETO have executed this Agreement 

 
Signed this ___day of __________, 2023 

 
For the Company  For the Union 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
  

May 23, 2023 - Page 061



~ 34 ~ 

 
 
 

Schedule “A” 
 

July 1, 2022 1.75% (all other financial impactors at July 1, 2023, except VTA, 
shown below) 

Eff. date of ratification a one-time Vacation Travel Allowance of $2000 shall be paid  
to each member of the bargaining unit, payable in separate deposit.   

July 1, 2023    GNWT plus 0.25% 

July 1, 2024  GNWT plus 0.25%  

If the cumulative rate of GNWT plus 0.25% is less than 3.0%, a one-time Vacation Travel 
Allowance of $1250 shall be paid to each member of the bargaining unit and GNWT plus 
0.25% shall be applied to the grid. This formula shall apply to both the July 1, 2023 and 
the July 1, 2024 adjustments. 
  

May 23, 2023 - Page 062



~ 35 ~ 

 
Attached for Information and Action 

Recognition of Length of Service 

Effective no later than Sept. 1, 2023, a joint committee shall be formed to consider appropriate 
recognition of long-serving employees who provide leadership and mentorship over and above 
their regular duties. No later than August 31, 2024, the committee shall report its findings to the 
parties and these shall be used to create a Memorandum of Understanding on this matter and 
providing funding for this purpose. The budget for the joint committee’s operation shall be 
approved by the Board prior to July 1, 2024. 

Note: There is currently in Administrative Practice a provision to recognize length of service for 
all YK1 employees. 

 

May 23, 2023 - Page 063



~ 36 ~ 

 

 

  

USW Grids for July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5
Janitor 59,882.84      61,103.78          62,730.60      63,949.86      65,070.41      
Head Janitor 63,722.10      64,941.35          66,568.15      67,785.70      68,982.98      
Lead/Floater Janitor 67,070.07      68,362.48          70,086.89      71,377.50      72,646.61      
Maintenance Personnel Operator 84,103.48      85,321.02          86,949.54      88,168.80      89,773.74      
Maintenance Personnel Non-Operator 76,485.38      77,581.17          79,046.83      80,144.17      81,588.60      
Building Systems Technician 89,436.15      90,738.92          92,481.44      93,786.05      95,503.34      
School Administrative Assistant - 7 hours 61,290.43      62,509.69          64,136.50      65,355.76      66,504.44      
School Administrative Assistant - 7.5 hours 65,102.43      66,408.78          68,151.79      69,458.15      70,688.87      
School Finance and Administrative Assistant- 7 hours 67,248.32      68,471.02          70,096.10      71,315.37      72,530.44      
School Finance and Administrative Assistant- 7.5 hours 71,485.88      72,795.92          74,537.08      75,843.44      77,145.30      
School Finance Officer 7 hours 74,526.41      75,693.91          77,245.59      78,410.10      79,570.63      
School Finance Officer 7.5 hours 79,283.84      80,534.73          82,197.24      83,444.93      84,688.36      
Janitor Supervisor 76,278.94      77,804.52          79,360.62      80,947.82      82,566.77      

 
Casual Janitor hourly rate 24.98  
Casual Clerical hourly rate 29.32
Rate of increase 1.70%

USW Grids for July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5
Janitor 60,930.79      62,173.09          63,828.38      65,068.98      66,209.15      
Head Janitor 64,837.23      66,077.82          67,733.09      68,971.95      70,190.18      
Lead/Floater Janitor 68,243.80      69,558.82          71,313.41      72,626.60      73,917.93      
Maintenance Personnel Operator 85,575.29      86,814.14          88,471.16      89,711.76      91,344.78      
Maintenance Personnel Non-Operator 77,823.88      78,938.84          80,430.15      81,546.69      83,016.40      
Building Systems Technician 91,001.28      92,326.85          94,099.87      95,427.31      97,174.66      
School Administrative Assistant - 7 hours 62,363.01      63,603.61          65,258.89      66,499.49      67,668.27      
School Administrative Assistant - 7.5 hours 66,241.72      67,570.93          69,344.45      70,673.66      71,925.92      
School Finance and Administrative Assistant- 7 hours 68,425.16      69,669.27          71,322.78      72,563.39      73,799.72      
School Finance and Administrative Assistant- 7.5 hours 72,736.88      74,069.85          75,841.48      77,170.70      78,495.36      
School Finance Officer 7 hours 75,830.62      77,018.55          78,597.39      79,782.28      80,963.11      
School Finance Officer 7.5 hours 80,671.30      81,944.08          83,635.70      84,905.22      86,170.40      
Janitor Supervisor 77,613.82      79,166.10          80,749.43      82,364.41      84,011.69      

 
Casual Janitor hourly rate 25.41  
Casual Clerical hourly rate 29.83
Rate of increase 1.75%
At the date of ratification, a one-time vacation travel allowance of $2000 shall be paid to each member of the bargaining unit
payable in separate deposit

USW Grids for July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024
GNWT plus 0.25%.
If the cumulate rate of GNWT plus 0.25% is less than 3.0%, a one time vacation travel allowance of $1250 shall be paid to each membe  
of the bargaining unit and GNWT plus 0.25% shall be applied to the grid.

USW Grids for July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025
GNWT plus 0.25%.
If the cumulate rate of GNWT plus 0.25% is less than 3.0%, a one time vacation travel allowance of $1250 shall be paid to each membe  
of the bargaining unit and GNWT plus 0.25% shall be applied to the grid.

May 23, 2023 - Page 064



~ 37 ~ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
This page intentionally 

left blank 

May 23, 2023 - Page 065


	5.0.i Board Meeting Agenda-Eng-May 23, 2023
	9.1.i Board Briefing on Budget May 23, 2023
	9.1.ii Ratepayers 2023_24 May 23 V 3.docx - Google Docs
	10.1.i Board Briefing USW Approval May 23
	10.1.ii USW 2022-2025 Agreement - for signing
	11.01 (a) Employees, other than school Finance and Administrative Assistants,
	earn annual vacation days from date of hire according to the following
	schedule, travel days inclusive:
	 0 - 1 year – 1.25 days per month of service (prorated to fteq) to a
	maximum of 15 days per year
	 1 year but less than 5 years - 24 days per year
	 5 years and over - 29 days per year
	Recognition of Length of Service
	Effective no later than Sept. 1, 2023, a joint committee shall be formed to consider appropriate recognition of long-serving employees who provide leadership and mentorship over and above their regular duties. No later than August 31, 2024, the commit...
	Note: There is currently in Administrative Practice a provision to recognize length of service for all YK1 employees.




